IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,127

FLORIDA BAR NOS: 068445 142163

EBONY HALL, by and through her parents and natural guardians, JAMES HALL and EMILY HALL, and JAMES HALL and EMILY HALL, individually,

53

Petitioners,

v.

÷

HOSAIN DAEE, M.D., HOSAIN DAEE, M.D., P.A., RAUL HERNANDEZ, M.D., CITY OF HOMESTEAD, d/b/a JAMES ARCHER SMITH HOSPITAL, and THE FLORIDA PATIENTS COMPENSATION FUND,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS

Respectfully submitted,

STANLEY M. ROSENBLATT, P.A. Concord Building Penthouse 66 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 374-6131

By: M. ROSENBLAT By:

USAN ROSENBLATT

INTRODUCTION

This Brief is filed on behalf of Petitioners, JAMES HALL and EMILY HALL, individually and as parents and natural Guardians of their minor child, EBONY HALL. Petitioners will be referred to as Petitioners, "Plaintiffs" or "Hall".

The Respondents, Defendants below, HOSAIN DAEE, M.D., HOSAIN DAEE, M.D., P.A., RAUL HERNANDEZ, M.D. and CITY OF HOMESTEAD d/b/a JAMES ARCHER SMITH HOSPITAL, will be referred to collectively as "Respondents", "Defendants" or as $\frac{1}{3}$ "Dr. Daee", "Dr. Hernandez", and "James Archer Smith Hospital".

References to the original Opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal of April 17, 1990, including the dissenting Opinion of Chief Judge Schwartz, will be referred to as Appendix "A" 1-4; references to the Opinion on Motions for Rehearing, Clarification and Certification of November 2, 1990 shall be referred to as "A" 5-15.

References to the transcript shall be designated as "T"; references to the record on appeal shall be designated "R". References to testimony of Plaintiffs' expert, Dr. William Rosenzweig by videotape deposition (T.961-962), shall be designated "Rosenzweig _____". All emphasis shall be supplied unless otherwise noted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Ł

The primary matter before this Court involves the selection of the Jury, in a medical malpractice action that was tried in March, 1988 in Dade County Circuit Court. The minor brain damaged Plaintiff, EMILY HALL, and her parents are African-Americans; these black Plaintiffs sued non-black professional defendants (A.13). Although the majority Opinion of the Third District Court of

Appeal found in favor of the Defendants on the issues raised relating to jury selection, the Majority did certify to this Court, as a Question of Great Public Importance:

WHETHER, as a matter of law, a <u>Neil</u> inquiry must be conducted by the trial court, even though the trial court found there had been no challenge of jurors on a racially discriminatory basis, where the defendants exercised peremptory challenges on four out of five black prospective jurors?

Petitioners shall set forth in some detail the jury selection process that occurred on March 7, 1988. It was the goal of Plaintiffs and their counsel to select a fair and impartial jury to try this medical malpractice case against an obstetrician, Dr. Hosain Daee, a pediatrician, Dr. Raul Hernandez and a hospital, James Archer Smith Hospital.

Each of the defendants had three peremptory challenges and the trial Court allowed the three defendants to pool their peremptory challenges (A.6). Of the thirty-five veniremembers that were questioned, six were black; five of those six were reached during Voir Dire. Of those five prospective black jurors, the defendants collectively excused four.

Of the thirty-five prospective jurors questioned, twenty-five had ties of some sort to the medical community — clearly not good news for Plaintiffs in a medical malpractice action. Petitioners, shall very briefly, below, describe each prospective juror's connection to the healthcare/medical community. Those jurors whose names are underscored are black.

2

a. Mrs. Williams. She had a nursing background and worked as a doctors assistant for Dr. Fred Sameo, an Ob/Gyn in Kendall, for two years. She knows defense expert Dr. Kalstone since he was present at the birth of one of her children. (T.39,113)

b. <u>Mrs. Dixon</u>. She had been an account assistant for Southern Bell in customer service for eighteen years. Two of her sisters are registered nurses, one works in Washington, D.C. and the other at Jackson Memorial Hospital. (T.45) [Dr. Raul Hernandez exercised a peremptory challenge against Mrs. Dixon (T.311)].

c. Mrs. Bruce. There are two physicians in her family. Both her niece and nephew are gynecologists and both doctors were living with her while they were in medical school. She didn't know if that would influence her decision in the case: (T.49-50) She has observed literature in her physician's office regarding the subject of malpractice. (T.108)

d. Ms. Paloma. She has a close friend who is an oncologist. (T.53)

e. <u>Mr. Parekh</u>. He is originally from Kenya and his brotherin-law is a physician. (T.55-56) [Dr. Daee exercised a peremptory challenge against Mr. Parekh. (183)]

f. Mr. Aleman. He has a relative who is a physician and a very close friend who is a gynecologist, Dr. Benach. He could have problems serving as a juror in the case since Dr. Benach delivered his daughter. (T.60-64) Dr. Benach has also discussed the problems with him regarding malpractice. He has similar problems with insurance in his position as an engineer. (T.109-110) [Plaintiffs moved to excuse Mr. Aleman for cause and defense counsel objected (T.179); Mr. Aleman was originally from Cuba (T.57) He was excused for cause. (T.179)]

g. Ms. Anderson. Her mother worked at James Archer Smith Hospital approximately twenty-five years ago; her sister hooks people up to

dialysis. (T.65-66)

h. Ms. Alvarez. Her niece is a registered nurse at Doctor's Hospital. (T.71) She worked for four years as a nursing assistant for a general physician. (T.72)

i. Mrs. Masterson. She has a very close friend who is a registered nurse who works with infants, delivery and nursery. (T.77)

j. Ms. Wolf. Her cousins and nephews are physicians. (T.82-83)

k. Mrs. Martinez. Her cousin is in medical school presently. (T.85)

1. Ms. Carlucci. Her cousin is a nurses aid and a close friend is a lab technician. (T.88) She is very familiar with James Archer Smith Hospital since she works for Av-Med Insurance. (T.85-86)

m. <u>Mr. Coley</u>. He has two sisters in law that are nurses and a friend who is a surgeon. (T.90) [Mr. Coley was excused by Dr. Daee (T.188)]

n. Mr. Katz. His father is in the medical insurance business. (T.122)

o. Mrs. Traurig. Her son-in-law is a physician, her sisterin-law is a registered nurse at Doctor's Hospital and she has physician friends. (T.92-93)

p. Mr. Barreiro. He owns a construction company and is responsible in part for the design of James Archer Smith Hospital. (T.97)

q. <u>Mrs. Thornton</u>. She is a registered nurse that works on the faculty of FIU. (T.209-210) Her husband is a health planner for Metro Dade. Her daughter is an administrative assistant for a primary healthcare facility in

Dade County, the Family Health Center. (T.209,214) [James Archer Smith Hospital exercised a peremptory challenge against Mrs. Thornton. (T.305)]

r. Mr. Suarez. His daughter works as a registered nurse at Palmetto General Hospital for two surgeons. (T.216-217)

s. Mr. Gonzalez. His father is a retired physician, a general practitioner in Miami who retired one year ago. (T.219) He plays tennis with four doctors three times a week. (T.220)

t. Mr. Perez. He has close friends in the medical field. (T.226) He testified he didn't know if he would be qualified to judge a medical "report." (T.247)

u. Mr. Alvarez. His mother's former husband is a physician. (T.231) His former father-in-law used to complain of medical malpractice cases and insurance rates. (T.249)

v. Mr. Cuervo. His brother is a medical doctor in Spain. (T.233) He also testified that he is familiar with the Cuban legal system which uses Roman law and he cannot fully accept the jury system. (T.277,285) [Mr. Cuervo was approved by all defendants as an alternate juror but Plaintiffs objected. (T.319)]

w. Mr. Rook. His brother works for a radiologist in Miami Beach, either affiliated with Mount Sinai or The Heart Institute. (T.235)

x. Mr. Greig. His brother-in-law is a medical doctor in Coral Gables, in endocrinology. (T.241)

y. Ms. Andre. One of her sisters and two of her nieces are registered nurses. (T.243) One works at Jackson Memorial Hospital and South Miami Hospital (T.244)

After jurors were excused for cause and the parties exercised peremptory challenges, the jury consisted of the following:

1. Mrs. Martinez, originally from Cuba with a cousin in medical school.

2. Mrs. Traurig, her son-in-law is a medical doctor and a sister-in-law is a registered nurse at Doctor's Hospital; she has many physician friends. (T.92-93)

3. Mr. Suarez, originally from Cuba. He has one child, a daughter, who works as a registered nurse at Palmetto General Hospital for two latin surgeons. (T.215-217)

4. Às. Igualada, she is originally from Ouba and works at Jordan Marsh. (T.223-224)

5. Mr. Lowry, he is black and works for the sanitation department. (T.225)

6. Mr. Perez, he is originally from Cuba and has friends in the medical field. (T.226) He doesn't know if he would be qualified to judge a medical "report." (T.247)

Jurors Alvarez and Tigget were the alternates. Mr. Alvarez also had ties to the medical community, as discussed above.

S.

Petitioners shall present, below, the pertinent excerpts from the trial transcript on the subject of defense counsel's striking of four black jurors:

s = 5

[Plaintiffs' counsel] . . . I think there is a pattern here where the defense is trying to eliminate blacks from the panel and we object to it. . . (T.305)

The Court: Perhaps I missed the case that has extended the Neil decision to the civil cases.

* * * *

[Plaintiffs' counsel] I am looking for it. I think it is City of Miami v. Cornett and I don't have a copy with me but I have the citation. . . The Court: I would like to see the case I am not familiar with the case. \cdot There absolutely is a question as far as I'm concerned. First I want to see the case then I will make the decision. (T.306)

* * * *

The Court: Well, even if it is applicable [to civil cases] [counsel for, James Archer Smith Hospital] struck Ms. Anderson, who's white, and Ms. Carlucci who is Italian and white. There is still a black person on the jury.

How can you tell me . . . [counsel for James Archer Smith Hospital] is acting systematically?

Mr. Bandklayder [Plaintiffs' counsel] the defense as a whole

The Court: As far as I'm concerned they're using their challenges individually.

. . [Counsel for Dr. Daee] has been standing here with his thumb in his mouth for the last half an hour. I don't see they're using them together.

You can't — assume for a moment that you're correct so far as the case being extended. The challenges that . . . [defense counsel] previously made were not of black jurors. There is still a black juror on the Jury.

Mr. Rosenblatt: [Plaintiffs' counsel]. . . [T]his is exactly what the cases say, that a Judge shouldn't put his head in the sand when something is happening in front of his eyes.

You take this juror [Mrs. Thornton] and if we're looking at the real world, if this juror is white she is a perfect juror, a nurse. To get a nurse in a medical malpractice case, that is absolutely a supreme juror. (T.308)

X

The Court: Mr. Rosenblatt I don't put myself in the place of the attorneys when they decide who they want on the Jury. His challenges have been black people. On the face of it, it would appear maybe there is a reason. Do you wish for me to inquire as to the reason for the strikes?

* * *

There is no reason for me to inquire as to the reasons of the strikes. His strategy may be all wet. That is his strategy. As long as he hasn't demonstrated to me a pattern of exclusion of blacks in this case or other cases, couldn't be other cases because he hasn't been in front of me. I find he has not been doing that. I'll accept his challenge to Mrs. Thornton on no violation of the Neil decision as you say to me it has been extended to --

Mr. Bandklayder: [Plaintiffs' counsel] I want the record to be clear Mr. Coley was stricken by the defense.

The Court: Excuse me. Mr. Coley was struck by, I'll tell you in a minute, Mr. Lynn [counsel for Dr. Raul Hernandez]. He was not struck by Mr. McGrane. (T.309)

* * * *

Mr. Rosenblatt: There's three blacks, Judge. We're forgetting the black man from Fast Africa [Mr. Parekh from Kenya (T.55)].

The Court: He wasn't a black.

Mr. Burnett: He was Indian or something.

The Court: Indian or Pakistanian.

Mr. Rosenblatt: What color, Judge? That's black.

The Court: <u>I'm sorry I don't consider it black as in black</u> in the Neil decision. That's a different type.

That's my ruling. We're going to go on from there. (T.310)

* * * *

The Court: Mr. Burnett, you have one challenge left.

Mr. Burnett: I will challenge Ms. Dixon.

The Court: Dixon.

Mr. Bandklayder: That's the other black.

Mr. Burnett: I'm leaving a black on there. [At this point, all Defendants were out of challenges]

Mr. Rosenblatt: Now surely you see what's happening. It's exactly what the cases say. They have removed a strong black to keep an obviously weak uneducated black on. It's a distortion that is exactly what Judge Ferguson was talking about Judge.

We can't go into their minds, but basically what they're saying, as I understand the cases, is they are saying, Judge, a good lawyer is always going to come up with a reason, always going to come up with one. What's their reason? [Mr. Rosenblatt] We started out with a very unrepresentative panel, Judge, and its obvious what they're doing. It's obvious what they are doing, and in that sense all the defendants have a total conserted objective in this case. There will be no reason on earth to exclude Ms. Dixon. In fact, it is done at the eleventh hour where now a black man -- it's just obvious Judge.

* * * *

* * * *

The Court: There remains a black on the Jury. I have no problem with Mr. Burnett excusing Ms. Dixon.

So now we have Ms. Martinez, Ms. Traurig, Mr. Suarez, Ms. Igualada, Mr. Lowry and Mr. Perez. (T.312)

The Court asked counsel for the Plaintiffs if he was "satisfied" with the Jury and Mr. Rosenblatt replied "No, absolutely not!" (T.314)

When picking the two alternate jurors, defense counsel for each of the defendants readily accepted Mr. Cuervo, whose brother is a physician in Spain, (T.333), and who stated he could not fully accept the Jury system since he believed in the Cuban.system utilizing Roman law and a trial without Jury. (T.285,319) Defense counsel also readily accepted Mr. Alvarez whose former step-father was a physician who complained of medical malpractice problems and insurance rates. (T.231,249) Mr. Alvarez was selected as the first alternate and Ms. Tiggett, a black school teacher, as the second alternate. The Court inquired if Mr. Rosenblatt was "Happy" that defense counsel had agreed to accept as the second alternate a black woman, Ms. Tiggett. (T.320) Ms. Tiggett was excused prior to deliberation.

The transcript of trial reflects that Dr. Raul Hernandez "played" to his audience of four Latin [Cuban] jurors and one latin [Cuban] alternate juror.

Q: [By Dr. Hernandez' counsel] Did you graduate from the medical school at the University of Havana?

A: Yes.

Q: What did you do with reference to your medical training career and training after that?

A: Well as soon as I finished there, I was involved in the war against Castro and I got caught. I was working as a doctor for the Guerillas, and I was in jail and I was lucky enough to get out of jail. I went to the embassy and I went to Brazil and went to here in the end of 1963. (T.588-589)

Dr. Hernandez further volunteered "<u>I am a Cuban</u>. I talk a lot". (T.584); when he worked at St. Mary's Hospital in West Palm Beach, "I was the only Spanish speaking one, and the other six were Americans". (T.590)

On the issue of jury selection, the majority of the appellate court in its original Opinion, per curiam, affirmed, with Chief Judge Schwartz dissenting. Judge Schwartz stated:

I would reverse the defendants' judgment entered below for a new trial on all issues because I believe that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to hold that the defendants' peremptory excusal of five of six sitting black jurors "[d]emonstrate . . . that they're [was] a strong likelihood that they [were] challenged solely because of their race," so as to cross the threshold erected by <u>State v.</u> Neil, 457 So.2d 481,486 (Fla.1984), and require a neutral, non-biased explanation for the challenges. <u>Bryant v. State, So.2d</u> (Fla. Case Nos. 71,356, 71,357, 71,258, 71,355, Opinion filed, March 29, 1990 [15 FLW S179]); Thompson v. State, 548 So.2d 198 (Fla.1989); City of Miami v. Cornett, 463 So.2d 399 (Fla.3d DCA 1985). (A.3)

Petitioners filed Motions for Rehearing, Clarification and Certification to the appellate court; the majority denied the Motions for Rehearing and Clarification but granted the Motion for Certification on the issue of jury selection. (A.6) The majority of the Third District, purporting, to rely in part on this Court's recent decision in <u>Reed v. State</u>, 560 So.2d 203 (Fla.1990), held that the question of whether or not a <u>Neil</u> inquiry should be made in the first instance, is left to the sound discretion of the trial court, even where, as here, the defendants exercised peremptory challenges against four

of five black perspective jurors. In his dissenting Opinion, Chief Judge Schwartz reasserted and reemphasized why a <u>Neil</u> inquiry was mandated under these circumstances:

I continue to believe that the exercise of defense peremptory challenges to remove four out of five black potential jurors demonstrated, on the face of it, a "strong likelihood" that the challenges were motivated by an impermissible bias against African-Americans -- one which was especially understandable, although certainly not excusable, in a case like this in which black plaintiffs were suing non-black professional defendants. While I confess myself unable to reconcile Bryant v. State, 565 So.2d 1298 (Fla.1990) and Reed v. State, 560 So.2d 203 (Fla.1990), cert. , S.Ct.230, den., U.S. L.Ed.2d (1990), upon which the majority relies and which seems quite similar to Bryant but is not cited in that decision, I believe that because of the sensitivity of the issue and the announced policy that "any doubts as to the existence of a "likelihood" of impermissible bias must be resolved in the objecting party's favor", Thompson v. State, 548 So.2d 198,200 (Fla.1989) [citing State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18, 21-22 (Fla.1988), cert. den. 487 U.S. 1219, 108 S.Ct. 2873, 101 L.Ed. 2d 909 (1988)], Bryant should control. Accordingly, I would hold that the trial court reversibly erred by declining to put the defendants to the Slappy test of presenting an acceptable, race-neutral explanation for their In my view, therefore, the Judgment below must challenges. be reversed. (A.13-14)

Since the Petitioners also raise as error the trial court's jury instructions on negligence [intervening cause], as well as the defense of the statute of limitations, Petitioners shall very briefly set forth, below, the pertinent facts in this case.

Ebony Hall is the only child of James and Emily Hall (T.15,18); she was born at 5:20 a.m. on June 5, 1981 at James Archer Smith Hospital in Homestead, Florida. This medical malpractice case arose from the facts and circumstances surrounding Ebony's birth and the care she received while hospitalized at James Archer Smith Hospital, through her transfer to Variety Children's Hospital.

Plaintiffs presented evidence at trial that Ebony's present brain damage was caused by the negligence of one or more of the defendants at or about the time of birth, and for a period thereafter. The defendants denied they were negligent, asserting that this was an intrauterine injury and further asserting through the cross examination of Plaintiffs' expert witnesses, that damage was done to Ebony during her subsequent transfer to Variety Children's Hospital or thereafter. (T.920-921) Two of the defendants, Dr. Raul Hernandez and Dr. Hosain Daee further raised the defense of the statute of limitations; said defense did not apply to James Archer Smith Hospital which is governed by a four year statute of limitations (§768.28(12), Florida Statutes).

There was conflicting evidence at trial on the issues of negligence, causation, and the defense of the statute of limitations. Since Petitioners raise as error the trial court's failure to instruct the Jury on intervening cause, the failure to instruct the Jury on fraudulent concealment, and the exclusion of evidence on the issue of fraudulent concealment, Petitioners shall present the evidence presented by Plaintiffs that is relevant on each of these issues. No attempt is made to present evidence presented by Defendants on these issues.

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