017

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,127

APA 13 199

CLERK, SUPREME

By Chief Deputy

HOSAIN DAEE, M.D., HOSAIN DAEE, M.D., : P.A.; RAUL HERNANDEZ, M.D.; CITY OF HOMESTEAD, d/b/a JAMES ARCHER SMITH : HOSPITAL; and THE FLORIDA PATIENTS COMPENSATION FUND, :

Appellees,

v.

EBONY HALL, by and through her

parents and natural guardians, JAMES HALL and EMILY HALL, and JAMES HALL and EMILY HALL, individually

Petitioners.

JOINT ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS, RAUL HERNANDEZ, M.D., JAMES ARCHER SMITH HOSPITAL AND THE FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND

KUBICKI, BRADLEY, DRAPER,
GALLAGHER & McGRANE, P.A.
BETSY GALLAGHER, ESQ.
Attorneys for James Archer
Smith Hospital

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

Petitioners also erroneously rely on the alleged failure of the Variety Children's Hospital transport team to administer 100% oxygen as a "possible" intervening cause. Petitioners rely on the fact that their expert, during cross-examination by James Archer Smith Hospital's counsel, was asked- and answered- one question raising the possibility of additional injury at this time. Of course, appellant's expert clearly testified that the majority- if not all- of the damage occurred prior to this time. Additionally, the jury in this case did not believe that the use of 70% oxygen in transit was an independent act that relieved the defendants from liability as evidenced by the fact that the jury found Dr. Daee- the first actor in the sequence- negligent. Clearly the alleged lack of oxygen during the transfer was not an independent cause requiring an appropriate instruction.

At the charge conference, petitioners only argued that the failure to administer 100% oxygen during the transfer to Childrens Variety justified an intervening cause instruction. The trial judge properly

Appellants are estopped from taking a contrary position in this appeal. <u>See</u>, e.g., <u>Montero v. Compugraphic Corp.</u>, 531 So.2d 1034, 1036 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988) ("a litigant cannot, in the course of litigation, occupy inconsistent and contradictory positions."); <u>McKee v. State</u>, 450 So.2d 563, 564 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984) ("it is axiomatic that a party will not be allowed to maintain inconsistent positions in the course of litigation.")

recognized that petitioners had consistently asserted that the damage, if the result of negligence, had occurred up until the time of transfer. As such, the trial judge was justifiably suspect when petitioners argued to the contrary, (T.2236, lines 2-11), and he appropriately denied the request for an intervening cause charge. Nothing presented in this second appeal requires a contrary result.¹⁴

The notes to the Florida Standard Jury Instructions, regarding causation state that:

Charge 5.1c (intervening cause) is to be given only in cases in which the Court concludes that there is a jury issue as to the presence and effect of an intervening cause.

In this case, the trial judge during the charge conference was aware of this note and correctly determined that there was no issue in the case as to the existence or effect of an intervening cause, sufficient to require him to instruct the jury with Standard Charge 5.1c. (T.2234-37).

Petitioners mistakingly rely on the cases of <u>Tilley v. Broward Hospital District</u>, 458 So.2d 817 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) and <u>Higgins v. Johnson</u>, 434 So.2d 976 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). <u>Tilley involved the failure to give a concurrent cause instruction</u>, not an intervening cause instruction. In <u>Tilley</u>, the child developed an infection shortly after surgery and ultimately died. Plaintiff apparently asserted that the infection was the result of the negligent treatment and surgery provided by the hospital. On the other hand, the hospital asserted that the

^{14.} The appellants suggest at 16 that the child's continuing uncontrolled seizures at Variety Children's Hospital was a possible intervening cause. This argument was not made at the charge conference. Regardless, the experts at trial testified that the child had been injured prior to being transported to Children's Variety Hospital and that the seizures were merely effects of this pre-existing brain damage.

death was the result of some natural condition arising after their care and treatment, for which they were not responsible. Once the intervening cause element—subsequent infection and ultimate demise from allegedly natural causes—became an issue, then an instruction to the jury was appropriate in order to inform the jurors that the subsequent action would not relieve the defendants from their negligence if their negligence was a substantial contributing factor and the subsequent event was foreseeable. In addition, it is presumed, although not specifically noted, that the jury would have been instructed that the leaving of the sponge after the second surgery would be negligence per se and, therefore, the existence of defendants' negligence and the effect of a subsequent condition was clearly established. Under these circumstances, unlike the instant case, it is appropriate for an intervening cause instruction to be given.

Likewise <u>Higgins</u> does not require a reversal in this case. In <u>Higgins</u>, neither the concurring nor the intervening cause instructions were given. The allegations of negligence were that the defendant, a chiropractor, had treated the plaintiff for a low back strain. The condition grew progressively worse and ultimately resulted in serious paralysis and loss of bladder and bowel functions. The actual cause of the condition was a malignancy that originated in the prostate, involved the spinal column, and subsequently resulted in compression of the spinal cord. Plaintiff alleged that the defendant negligently failed to observe proper standards of chiropractic medicine and, accordingly, failed to timely diagnose, discover, or treat the condition. The defendant asserted that the plaintiff was comparatively negligent in that he did not heed defendant's later suggestion to consult a medical doctor

when the condition continued to progress. The trial court denied both the concurring and intervening cause instructions and only gave the standard instructions on legal cause of injury. On appeal the court held that both instructions were required to determine the liability issues, not just damages. It properly noted that the defendant's negligence was not the cause in fact of the patient's cancer, but may have combined with the natural cause to substantially contribute to the In Higgins, the ultimate injury, paralysis and loss of end result. bladder and bowel functions, occurred after the treatment of the defendant and as a result of an underlying natural condition. failure of the plaintiff to seek medical intervention after defendant's treatment was also alleged to be an intervening cause. As such, in that case the instruction was appropriate.

In the instant action, there was no question for the jury to determine regarding any defendant's freedom from negligence as the result an act or a cause occurring after that defendants contact with this child. Accordingly, there was no basis for instructing the jury on intervening cause.

Assuming that the evidence in this case was minimally sufficient to suggest the appropriateness of an intervening cause instruction, the failure to give this instruction was not reversible error, since the jury was clearly not mislead as to the state of the record. As the Third District stated in Morganstine v. Rosomoff, 407 So.2d 941-43 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981):

Failure to give a requested instruction does not automatically, however, require reversal. Rather in determining whether the trial court erred, the requested jury charges must be interpreted in light of the evidence, pleadings, and other instructions to see whether, as a whole, the instructions fairly

state the law, or whether the jury may have been mislead. Grimm v. Prudence Mutual Casualty Co., 243 So.2d 140 (Fla. 1971); Llompart v. Lavecchia, 374 So.2d 77 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), cert. denied (385 So.2d 758 (Fla. 1980); Wages v. Snell, 360 So.2d 807 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978).

407 So.2d 143; See also Sears Roebuck & Company v. McKenzie, 502 So.2d 940 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); Wilson v. Boca Raton Community Hospital, Inc., 511 So.2d 313 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); Gallagher v. Federal Insurance Co., 346 So.2d 95, 97 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977) Florida East Coast Railway Co. v. Lawler, 151 So.2d 852 (Fla. 3d DCA 1963).Cf. General Syndicators of America v. Green, 522 So.2d 1081 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) (Appellate court found that even if an independent contractor instruction, which excused the defendant from liability if the acts complained of were performed by an independent contractor, was improperly given, it was harmless error to give it since the jury found the defendant was negligent and that such negligence was a legal cause of plaintiff's injuries. If jury had believed that an independent contractor insulated the defendant from liability they would not have found the defendant liable).

Petitioners merely assert that the jury had a question regarding the causation instructions and, therefore, the jury was obviously confused. However, the fact that the jury may have been concerned with causation and requested further instruction on causation is not dispositive. Rather, the question is whether the failure to give the intervening cause instruction mislead the jury by not providing proper instruction on a material issue.

In the instant action, it is virtually impossible that the jury was mislead as to the effect of a intervening cause since the jury found that Dr. Daee, who petitioners admit was the first actor in the sequence, was negligent. If, as petitioners assert, the jury might have

found from the evidence in the record that an action subsequent to the negligence relieved the original negligent actor from liability, then it is unlikely, indeed impossible, that the jury would have returned a verdict against Dr. Daee. If it is possible that the jury might have determined that some negligence on the part of the transport team or the personnel at Variety Children's Hospital excused Dr. Hernandez and James Archer Smith Hospital or that some natural condition caused the injury after transport, 15 such a determination would also hold true with respect to Dr. Daee. Clearly, the jury, in finding Dr. Daee negligent, accepted the proposition that the injury to Ebony Hall was the result of intrauterine insult that occurred prior to her admission into the hospital while she was under Dr. Daee's care, or was result of Dr. Daee's negligence in failing to go to the hospital immediately and in failing to adequately respond to the late decelerations that arose during labor and delivery and, therefore, an intervening cause instruction was not necessary. 16

As noted in the earlier section, the plaintiff never took a position that there was negligence on the part of Miami Children's Hospital staff or the transport team or that the child's injuries could have been prevented after transport. Indeed, they took the opposite position.

Indeed, recent case authority suggests that the two issue rule might be applied to this case to preclude appellants from showing harmful error as a result of a lack of intervening cause instruction; since the jury on the basis of this record and the verdict forms submitted could have determined that the physicians were not negligent and never determined the causation question. That is, it is perfectly consistent that the jury determined that Dr. Hernandez and the hospital were not negligent and, therefore, never reached the question of whether such negligence was a legal cause of the injury. See Brown v. Sims, 538 So.2d 901,907 n.4 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

C. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE REQUEST TO ALLOW THE MINOR PLAINTIFF TO TESTIFY IN ORDER TO "DEMONSTRATE" HER INJURIES TO THE JURY.

The trial court correctly refused to permit the minor plaintiff, Ebony Hall, to be questioned at trial. It was acknowledged by all parties that Ebony Hall suffers from brain damage and retardation; and several expert witnesses testified as to the mental condition of the child. During plaintiff's case, plaintiff's counsel indicated to the trial judge that he was "intending to call or give some type of demonstration with Ebony." (T.1450) Counsel stated that he wished to ask the six and a half year old child certain basic questions and perhaps to have her draw a circle on a piece of paper in order to show the extent of injury and damage (T.1451-1452): "I would like to see this child have the jury hear her voice for a few moments." (T.1454). The trial judge noted that the jury had seen the child, who had been present in the courtroom for a short period. The trial judge ruled that the demonstration of the plaintiff's retardation was excluded because "the prejudicial effect would be so great that it would outweigh the probative value . . . and I will not allow the proffered demonstration. . . " (T.1511).

The question of whether to permit a demonstration of injury in front of a jury is a matter which rests within the sound discretion of the trial judge. Talcott v. Holl, 224 So.2d 420 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969), cert. denied, 232 So.2d 181 (Fla. 1969). This discretion will not be disturbed on appeal in the absence of a clear showing of abuse. Additionally, a demonstration of an injury is generally disfavored:

Although the decision of whether to permit an exhibition or demonstration of injuries in front of

a jury is generally a matter resting in the discretion of the trial court, such exhibitions are generally frowned upon... Demonstrations of injuries are especially suspect where the injuries are of such a nature that they cannot be seen by the jury.... Any exhibition of injuries which is intended to excite sympathy or pity in the jury or which inflames or prejudices the jury is obviously grounds for a new trial....

In the present case, we must accord great weight to the findings of the trial judge on this matter

In the present case, we must accord great weight to the findings of the trial judge on this matter since he was in a superior vantage point to determine any prejudicial effect the demonstration might have had on the jury.

<u>Del Monte Banana Co. v. Chacon</u>, 466 So.2d 1167, 1174-1175 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985).

Petitioners erroneously rely on <u>Talcott</u>, <u>Florida Greyhound Lines v. Jones</u>, 60 So.2d 396 (Fla. 1952), and <u>Florida Motor Lines v. Bradley</u>, 164 So. 360(Fla. 1935). In <u>Talcott</u>, the Court held it was in the "sound judicial discretion of the trial judge" as to whether to allow the plaintiff to take the stand and answer a few questions as part of a demonstration of mental injuries. <u>Jones</u> involved whether the injured plaintiff could be present in the courtroom- not a demonstration of the plaintiff's injuries. Finally, in <u>Bradley</u>, this Court held that the trial judge has discretion as to whether to allow the plaintiff to exhibit a physical injury. In this case, as discussed above, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in refusing Petitioner's request.

Assuming for purposes of argument that the proffered demonstration was relevant to the assessment of damages, the jury's verdict made the exclusion of the proffered demonstration harmless error. The jury found that there was no negligence, i.e., no liability, on the part of Dr. Hernandez and the hospital. Once the jury found that the doctors and the hospital were not negligent, exclusion of damage evidence could only be harmless error.

In a case close on point, the Third District determined that the exclusion of photographs taken of a minor plaintiff upon release from the hospital could not constitute reversible error "since this would seem to have a bearing only on the extent of the injuries suffered," rather than on the issue of liability that had been determined in the defendant's favor based upon a directed verdict at trial. Oliva v. Baum, 194 So.2d 319, 321 (Fla. 3d DCA 1967).

As to Dr. Daee, the jury found him negligent and awarded the plaintiffs damages of \$1,100,000. Petitioners do not raise as an issue on appeal that the damage award against Dr. Daee is insufficient because of the exclusion of the demonstrative evidence described above. In the absence of an argument that the \$1,100,000 awarded as against Dr. Daee was less than the jury would have otherwise awarded had it seen the proffered demonstration, no prejudicial error can be shown. The jury also found that the statute of limitations had run on the claim against Dr. Daee. This determination also makes any error which might have occurred in connection with excluding the proffered demonstration relating only to damages harmless.

The discretion of the trial judge in excluding the demonstration must be accorded great weight. No abuse has been shown. Further, it cannot be said that the trial court clearly abused its discretion or erred in relying on Section 90.403 to exclude the demonstration, the prejudicial effect of which outweighed its probative value. Thus, even without the harmless error doctrine of Section 59.041, Florida Statutes (1987), no reversible error occurred in connection with excluding the testimony of the minor plaintiff and demonstrating the extent of the retardation to the jury.

VI. CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the respondents, RAUL HERNANDEZ, M.D.; CITY OF HOMESTEAD, d/b/a JAMES ARCHER SMITH HOSPITAL; and THE FLORIDA PATIENTS COMPENSATION FUND, respectfully request that this Court affirm the verdict and judgment rendered below.